Piroplasmids and ticks: a long-lasting intimate relationship

Monica Florin-Christensen, Leonhard Schnittger

Institute of Pathobiology, CICVyA, INTA-Castelar, Los Reseros y Las Cabanas, 1712 Castelar, Argentina

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction

3. Tick-piroplasmid interactions from different perspectives

3.1. A long voyage together

3.2. The journey through ticks

3.3. Piroplasmid infections can be detrimental for tick health

3.4. How do ticks control piroplasmid infections?

- 3.5. Tick saliva; camouflage of sporozoite invasion
- 3.6. Can piroplasmids manipulate their tick vectors?

4. Concluding Remarks

5. Acknowledgments

6. References

1. ABSTRACT

The tick-transmitted Babesia and Theileria spp. parasites are detrimental for animal health and cattle production in vast tropical and subtropical areas of the world. Additionally, human babesiosis increasingly raises public health concern. Most of the research on these piroplasmids has been focused on mammal-infecting stages, while the interaction with their tick vectors has been widely neglected. For millions of years, piroplasmids have been able to effectively exploit the tick milieu to carry out critical parts of their life cycle; including self propagation, sexual reproduction and recombination, development of infective forms capable of returning to their mammalian hosts through tick saliva, and in many cases, perpetuation into the next tick generation. Although piroplasmid colonization can seriously damage tick tissues and organs, innate immune mechanisms seem to be able to control these effects. This paper reviews the molecular interactions between ticks and piroplasmids from different perspectives. A deeper understanding of this interface might lead to the design of new control strategies.

2. INTRODUCTION

Apicomplexan parasites that are transmitted by ticks comprise *Babesia* and *Theileria* spp. Due to the existence of pear-shaped intraerythrocytic stages, they have been referred to as piroplasms (1,2). Traditional morphological and recent molecular investigations have substantiated that *Babesia* and *Theileria* spp. are close relatives and, correspondingly, they constitute the Order Piroplasmida (commonly: "piroplasmids") (3). In the following, the term *piroplasmid* will be used throughout to generically refer to *Babesia* and *Theileria* spp. parasites.

Piroplasmid infections are detrimental for animal health of a wide number of wild and domestic animals and are a major cause of economic losses in animal husbandry in tropical and subtropical areas worldwide (4). Furthermore, human babesiosis is being considered as an emerging zoonotic disease as a steadily increasing number of fatal infections of humans have been reported in recent years (5).

A unique morphological characteristic shared by piroplasmids with other apicomplexan protozoans is the presence of an apical complex: a rather intricate cellular apparatus consisting of conoid, rhoptries, micronemes (Babesia) or microspheres (Theileria), and other subcellular organelles (1,2). For Babesia spp. invasive stages, the apical complex serves as artillery to penetrate the host cell surface enabling the obligate intracellular lifestyle of these parasites. As a subgroup of the Phylum Alveolata, another prominent feature of apicomplexan protozoa is the existence of a peculiar cellular wrapping, the pellicle. Besides the outer cell membrane, the pellicle is composed of a primary subordinate layer of vesicles (alveoli) and a secondary layer of microtubules. The associated sublayer of microtubular structures (myosin/actin system) confers motility to the parasite and allows successful host cell invasion in the case of Babesia spp. (6) and other members of the Apicomplexa group. As both structures, the apical complex and the pellicle, are parasite-specific and thought to be vital for survival, their components are therefore at the forefront considered as targets for vaccines or antiparasitic drugs.

In respect to the above, *Theileria* shows significant variations to its taxonomic sister group (7). Most importantly, invasive parasite stages of *Theileria* spp. differ in the mechanism of host cell intrusion and correspondingly, in the function of the apical complex. Invasion into the host cell is mediated by a zippering mechanism between parasite and host cell membranes, in which apical complex organelles (rhoptries and microspheres) are not involved. The functional relevance of the latter seems to be restricted to the process of the intracellular establishment of the infection subsequent to invasion. For this reason, the search for potential vaccine candidates in the case of *Theileria* spp. has been focused predominantly on parasite surface proteins that may bind structures of the host cell membrane.

The invasion of mammalian ervthrocytes by Babesia spp. has been dealt with in a number of studies (8,9). Thus, several parasite surface molecules that are apparently involved in erythrocyte invasion have been discovered (9,10). In addition, sialic acid present on erythrocyte surface proteins and cholesterol abundance in the erythrocyte membrane, as well as extracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations also play a critical role in parasite invasion (9,11,12). Furthermore, circumstantial evidence has been presented that Babesia-invasion pathways may be functionally redundant as has been demonstrated for Plasmodium (12,13,14). In contrast, studies of invasion of tick cells have been hardly ever addressed on a molecular level and are pending. A prerequisite to these studies would be the establishment of *in vitro* systems using tick cell lines to mimic the invasive phenomena that take place inside the ticks. This task can be envisioned as challenging, since even the straightforward propagation of the parasites in tick cell lines has not been successful so far (15). In the same way as the invasion of erythrocytes is considered a target for vaccine development, the invasion of tick cells may expose functional molecules that are vital for parasite survival and transmission.

3. TICK-PIROPLASMID INTERACTIONS FROM DIFFERENT PERSPECTIVES

3.1. A long voyage together

In this section, we will outline the current views on the phylogenetic history of Apicomplexa, ticks and vertebrates, which might provide insights into the coevolution of interactions between piroplasmids and their invertebrate and vertebrate hosts at the molecular level.

Based on molecular comparison of 18S RNA genes, the basic phylogenetic relationships between Babesia and Theileria piroplasmids has been established by Allsopp et al. (3). Recently, further studies by Criado-Fornelio et al. (16) distinguished four clades of Babesia (archaeopiroplasmids, prototheilerids, babesids, and ungulibabesids) and one clade of *Theileria* parasites (theilerids). Theileria spp. are of monophyletic origin and are defined by their synapomorphic preerythrocytic propagation cycle in lymphocytes (schizogony) (2). In contrast, *Babesia* spp. constitute a paraphyletic group that can only be differentiated by molecular phylogeny, implying that characteristic molecular features of one Babesia parasite group may not always apply to another, and caution must be exercised to avoid inappropriate generalizations (16,17). By use of a molecular clock approach, the origin of the first piroplasmids (archaeopiroplasmids) has been dated to around 57 million years ago (mya). In this work, the molecular clock was calibrated by assuming concurrence of the appearance of the horse in Africa/Eurasia at about 7 mya with the tree node defining the babesid and ungulibabesid clades. The biological rationale for this calibration was based on the following assumptions: i) according to the inferred phylogenetic trees, the horse-infective B. caballi is the most ancient ungulibabesid, ii) in agreement with its worldwide distribution, diffusion of B. caballi between America, Eurasia, and Africa within its vertebrate host has only been possible during the Pliocene (7-2.5 mya). In accordance with the proposed molecular clock calibration, radiation of archaeopiroplasmids into the subgroups prototheilerids. theilerids and later into babesids, and ungulibabesids may have started around 25 mya (16).

Basal ixodid (hard tick) lineages have been exclusively identified in Australia suggesting they evolved about 120 mya after the isolation of this continent from Gondwanaland (18). As ticks (Ixodidae) are of monophyletic origin and since the oldest tick fossil of an argasid (Carios jerseyi) in New Jersev amber dates from 90 mya, this suggests that ticks had by then already diversified into main families (19,20). It has been proposed that the last common tick ancestor entertained a scavenger lifestyle feeding on body fluids of dead organisms like their phylogenetic sister group, the Holothyridae mites, before adopting a presumably more profitable blood-feeding lifestyle (21). This corresponds with recent evidence that anti-hemostatic mechanisms have been independently developed by different tick species during the above outlined time frame of tick evolution between 120 to 90 mya, possibly driven by the coinciding radiation of mammals and birds (22).

The origin of apicomplexan parasites is estimated to have occurred 820 to 350 mya, pre-dating by far the presumed origin of the invertebrate tick host as well as the radiation of mammals/birds (120 to 90 mya) (23). This raises the issue of which lineage represents the original monoxenous host of these parasites. As apicomplexan phylogeny correlates with the taxonomy of their invertebrate definitive host (e.g. piroplasmid/hard ticks, Plasmodium/mosquito), hard ticks most likely represent the primordial host of piroplasmid parasites (24). On this premise, the question arises as to when an ancient piroplasmid ancestor may have chosen a hard tick as its host. Given the scarce data and knowledge, an exact answer to this question remains elusive. However, on the premises that hard ticks originated apparently 120 to 90 mya and radiation of piroplasmids may have occurred 25 mya, it should have taken place within this time period.

In contrast, the vertebrate intermediate host seems to be integrated into a heteroxenous lifecycle in a more recent evolutionary time frame as also suggested by the observation that, within a given piroplasmid clade, a switch between different vertebrate hosts seems to have occurred relatively frequently (16,25). It may be assumed that the parasite is able to easily adapt to changes in the feeding behavior of the tick vector (16,26). Redundant erythrocyte invasion pathways that are implicated for Babesia sp. and have been demonstrated for Plasmodium sp. would be in accordance with this view as they suggest flexibility in the parasite's ability to infect different vertebrates (12,13,14). The above notion suggests furthermore, that as evolutionary adaptation between piroplasmid parasite and tick vector has likely spanned a much longer time, more intricate molecular interactions may be expected and realized between the latter than between piroplasmids and their vertebrate hosts. The molecular interface that may have been subjected to coevolutionary forces between the invertebrate tick and the piroplasmid are outlined and discussed in the following section.

3.2. The journey through ticks

Successive stages of the life cycle of *Babesia sp.* and *Theileria sp.* parasites take place in different compartments of *Ixodidae* ticks. For this to occur, these parasites need to cross multiple barriers such as midgut and salivary gland epithelium, and, in *Babesia* parasites, due to their trans-ovarian mode of transmission, also the ovary epithelium. During the migration within tick tissues and cavities, the parasites undergo several metamorphic changes (1,2).

Following blood ingestion by the tick, intraerythrocytic parasites that reach the midgut are stimulated by unknown mechanisms to undergo gametogenesis, followed by gamete fertilization and the emergence of zygotes. Since these phenomena only take place in the tick gut, the presence of specific inducer molecules in the gut milieu can be expected. The closely related apicomplexan parasite *Plasmodium sp.* also undergoes sexual reproduction in the gut of its arthropod vector. When *Plasmodium*-infected blood reaches the

mosquito gut, gametocytes, which are present in low numbers among the intraerythrocytic population of parasites in the mammalian host, transform into gametes that undergo sexual recombination and form zygotes, in a very similar way to what happens with Babesia and Theileria spp. These events are induced by a combination of three factors: (i) a drop of temperature with respect to that of the vertebrate host, (ii) a slight rise in pH and (iii) a substance present in the mosquito gut (27). The latter has been demonstrated to be xanthurenic acid, a heat-stable chromophore, which is a derivative of tryptophan metabolism (27,28). The mechanism by which xanthurenic acid induces gametogenesis is as yet not understood. Low concentrations of this compound can act together with pH to induce gametogenesis in vitro (27). Interestingly, xanthurenic acid has been found to stimulate the transformation of B. bigemina merozoites into sexual forms as well (29). In these experiments, incubation of intraerythrocytic parasites in an induction medium gave rise to the appearance of elongated stages with long projections that paired and fused, yielding diploid zygotes.

Segregation of satellite markers spanning the entire *T. parva* genome has been shown to be consistent with sexual recombination during tick-cattle passage (30). In an earlier study direct evidence for recombination has been demonstrated to occur between two distinct *T. parva* stocks following co-transmission through ticks (31). While the same is probably true for *Babesia sp.* parasites, its experimental demonstration is still pending (32). In addition, selection of piroplasmid subpopulations from heterogeneous field isolates is likely to happen during the tick life cycle stages.

Babesia and *Theileria* spp. parasites need to pass through the midgut epithelial cells for the perpetuation of their life cycle. The zygotes adhere to and invade midgut epithelial cells and transform into kinetes. This developmental step requires the expression of ligands on the surface of the zygote that interact with midgut cell specific receptors.

The identification of antigens containing neutralization-sensitive B-cell epitopes expressed on the surface of the sexual forms can lead to a control strategy that prevents transmission of the parasite within the vector. Again, research efforts carried out in P. falciparum parasites can be of benefit for Babesia and Theileria studies. It was observed that antibodies directed against Pfs230, a protein localized on the P. falciparum gamete surface, blocked transmission within mosquitoes (33). The search of the recently sequenced *B. bovis* genome (34) led to the finding of a Pfs230 homologous gene that is transcribed in sexual stages and intraerythrocytic forms of this parasite. Further characterization of this gene and the functional relevance of its product are currently under course (M. Florin-Christensen et al, unpublished observations).

Kinetes residing in gut epithelial cells are released into the hemocoel and then invade multiple tick tissues such as ovary epithelial cells and salivary glands. The molecular interactions underlying these invasion processes are unknown. Some piroplasmids, such as *B. bovis*, invade the tick eggs, and develop to infectious stages within the salivary glands of the next generation of ticks, a process known as vertical transmission. Many other *Babesia* and all *Theileria spp.* lack vertical transmission and have to transmit the parasites to their respective mammalian host within the same tick generation. These differential ability of the piroplasmid kinetes to invade tick eggs and might depend on the presence or absence of specific ligand/receptor interactions, which deserve future research efforts.

Following the invasion of the granular acini of salivary glands, the parasites undergo sporogony, and replicate to form sporozoite colonies. In the case of *T. equi*, replication has been demonstrated by quantification of parasites within the salivary glands of *Rhipicephalus microplus* and confirmed microscopically by the observation of *T. equi* colonies within the granular acini of salivary glands (35). Sporozoites express antigens on their cell surface required for erythrocyte invasion. An example of such a molecule is p67 of the sporozoites of *Theileria parva* that has been used in vaccination trials with significant success to prevent host infections (36,37).

3.3. Piroplasmid infections can be detrimental for tick health

Infection of ticks with *Babesia* or *Theileria sp.* parasites can have strong detrimental effects on these vectors. A study performed on *Boophilus decoloratus* ticks feeding on *B. bigemina*-infected splenectomized calves showed high mortality rates of engorged females and decreased viability in the eggs produced by surviving ticks as compared to ticks fed on non-infected calves, even though the blood parasitemia of the calves analyzed in this study was low (0.02-0.07%) (38). These results contrasted with previous studies performed on *Rhipicephalus* (*Boophilus*) *microplus* and *B. annulatus* that only showed enhanced mortality if blood parasitemia in *B. bigemina*infected calves was higher than 20% (39). Thus, differences in vulnerability to infection by piroplasmids appear to exist between tick species.

In an early field study it was shown that at a given sampling site, the ratio of T. annulata-infected to uninfected ticks was usually lower when the ticks were heavily infected with the parasite (40). Based on this observation, it has been suggested that high levels of infection with this parasite may be detrimental for the invertebrate tick host. Likewise, T. parva seems also capable to cause considerable damage on R. appendiculatus ticks. In experiments carried out by Watt and Walker (41), ticks were applied on T. parva-infected and non-infected calves and detached engorged nymphs were collected daily, incubated for different times and examined. Clear pathological signs could be observed starting at day 9 after detachment. Moulting slowed down or stopped in the majority of infected ticks as compared to uninfected controls. Tick mortality dramatically increased coinciding with the rising of parasitemia in the calf, and reached 75-

100% at peak parasitemia. A considerable number of the survivors detaching at this point were crippled, showing missing or distorted legs. Detailed examination of different tissues and organs of infected ticks revealed: (i) a vacuolated appearance in the basal area of the sessile digestive cells; (ii) a lack of structure in some areas of the gut epithelium accompanied by increased gut fragility; (iii) underdevelopment of salivary glands and deterioration of acini as evidenced by the appearance of pycnotic structures and large vacuoles. To measure reproductive performance, infected and uninfected ticks were applied to each ear of one rabbit. It was observed that infected females took longer to engorge and detach, the size of their bloodmeal was reduced, and they produced a smaller egg hatch. In addition, the hatched larvae numbers were significantly different between both groups (61% in uninfected compared to 12% in infected ticks).

The damages observed could be due to: (i) cell lysis caused by piroplasmids during invasion, (ii) degradation of vital tick macromolecules by parasitereleased or membrane-bound enzymes, or (iii) a combination of both factors. Additionally, they could be caused by stress-related tick molecules that are released or produced as a response to piroplasmid invasion. However, as Watt and Walker comment, the reported effects of T. parva on R. appendiculatus ticks are unusual and appear to be an extreme example of the possible pathologies caused on ticks of this species by these parasites, since other infected ticks examined by the same authors showed no alterations or only slight abnormalities in the salivary glands. It can be concluded that variations in susceptibility among individuals within one tick species also exist. Supporting this view, it was observed that large individual differences in sporoblast numbers were observed upon experimental infection of R. appendiculatus ticks with T. parva under laboratory conditions (42).

3.4. How do ticks control piroplasmid infections?

In view of the possible deleterious effects that ticks may suffer due to piroplasmid invasion, it is natural to wonder how ticks control infections, keeping parasite numbers at levels that are compatible with their own survival and reproduction. And, likewise, how does the parasite ensure not to harm its invertebrate host irreversibly thus hampering its own transmission.

Current research is unraveling the existence of compounds that are part of innate immune mechanisms of ticks, protecting them from the uncontrolled invasion of bacteria, fungi or piroplasmids (43). It is thus possible to speculate that the observed differences in tick susceptibility towards infections by the latter could be connected to individual variations in the production of such defensive molecules.

Haemaphysalis longicornis is a hard tick found mainly in East Asia and Australia. It feeds on varied hosts and can transmit *Theileria spp.* and *Babesia ovata* to bovines, *B. gibsoni* to dogs and *Ricketssia japonica* to humans. This tick was recently found to produce a small protein of 5.8 kDa, that was named "longicin", which has similarities with a scorpion ion channel blocker and with several defensins from ixodid and argasid ticks (44). Expression of longicin can be detected throughout the life cycle of H. longicornis, including larval, nymphal and adult stages. The molecule is mainly expressed in the midgut and is significantly increased after a blood meal. Recombinant longicin was shown to display toxicity towards grampositive and gram-negative bacteria, fungi and in vitro grown T. equi merozoites in a concentration-dependent fashion. Interestingly, the toxic activity of the molecule could be assigned to a 20 amino acid-long region of the longicin protein by experiments with synthetic peptides. Although the exact mode of action of longicin is not known, fluorescence confocal microscopy showed that the molecule attaches to the surface of T. equi merozoites, eventually leading to the lysis of the parasites. In vivo activity of this peptide on apicomplexan protozoa was tested in B. microti-infected mice. A significant reduction in parasitemia was observed upon administration of longicin. Moreover, pre-treatment of uninfected mice with longicin prior to challenge either abolished or significantly reduced infection with B. microti, depending on the administered dose. Importantly, no toxic effects (no erythrocyte lysis as obtained with other anti-babesial drugs) were observed in the treated mice, indicating a potential use of longicin in the development of new therapeutic approaches against Babesia sp. parasites (44,45).

Longicin and similar compounds that might be present in other ticks could thus participate in the regulation of the number of piroplasmids that remain and thrive in the tick organs and are finally transmitted to the vertebrate hosts. This hypothesis is further substantiated by the results of RNAi experiments. Longicin knock-down led to a significant reduction in the ability of *H. longicornis* adult ticks to feed and engorge when attached to *B. gibsoni*infected dogs. These effects were accompanied by an increased number of *B. gibsoni* parasites in the midgut and the ovary, and as a consequence, the transmission of this parasite into the eggs was twofold increased (44).

Cystatin Hlcys2 is another molecule produced by H. longicornis ticks which is also able to arrest the growth of apicomplexan parasites (46). Cystatins are inhibitors of cysteine proteases, are widespread in plants and animals and have been implicated in the defense against pathogens (47,48,49). Maximal transcription of the Hlcys2 gene was found in the midgut and hemocytes of these ticks, and was low in salivary glands, fat body and ovaries. Transcription occurred in all stages but was maximal in adults. Most noteworthy, transcription increased almost 17 times four days after adult ticks started feeding on rabbits. In addition, ticks fed on a Babesia gibsoni-infected dog showed a 1.8 fold increase in Hlcys2 transcription as compared to ticks fed on an uninfected dog. The possible toxic activity of Hlcys2 on piroplasmids was tested on in vitro cultured B. bovis merozoites. Parasites grown in the presence of Hlcys2 were arrested in their growth in a concentrationdependent fashion, although total growth inhibition was not observed (46).

Cystatins have also been described in other ticks such as *R. microplus* (50), *Ixodes scapularis* (51) and *Amblyomma americanum* (52) but their biological roles and possible effects as defensins have not yet been explored. Cystatins may fulfill different physiological roles in these ticks, such as facilitating blood feeding and regulation of their own cysteine proteases. In addition, they may be involved in the inhibition of piroplasmid cysteine proteases, thus limiting parasite multiplication in their organs and avoiding degradation of critical proteinaceous reservoirs, such as vitellin, the main nutrient of tick eggs, upon piroplasmid colonization.

Genes encoding cysteine proteases have been described for T. annulata (53), T. parva (54, 55), T. sergenti (56), T. equi (57), B. caballi (57), T. orientalis (58) and *B* bovis (10). The roles of piroplasmid cysteine proteases are still unknown although they have been postulated to participate in pathogenicity, erythrocyte invasion and degradation of hemoglobin. Secondary analysis of *B. bovis* putative cysteine protease predicted a membrane-bound protein with an exposed catalytic site (Mesplet, M. et al, manuscript in preparation), which would allow the degradation of proteins present in the parasite extracellular medium. Cysteine protease inhibitors were shown to hinder in vitro growth of merozoites of T. equi (57) and *B. bovis* (59), suggesting that these enzymes are basic for the survival of these parasites in their intraerythrocytic stage. These types of studies have been centered so far in the parasite-mammalian host interface. The importance of cysteine proteases for the tick-associated piroplasmid stages and their participation in invasion of tick cells, as well as their pathogenicity towards tick tissues are yet to be unraveled.

Innate immunity (43) has been recognized as a major defense mechanism of arthropods against microbial infections. Since the discovery of innate immune receptors such as toll-like receptors and other pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that bind foreign microbe-specific molecular structures (e.g. pathogen associated molecular patterns, PAMPs), the importance of innate immune mechanisms of plants, arthropods (Drosophila sp.) and other invertebrate organisms is being intensively investigated. However, research on the effect of the innate immune mechanisms of ticks to control parasites they transmit has been relatively scarce. The availability of genome information of some pathogen-transmitting tick species might facilitate the isolation and functional characterization of PRRs, enabling the in-depth characterization of tick defense mechanisms against piroplasmid infections.

In addition, transcriptomic and proteomic approaches can lead to an increased understanding of the molecular cross-talk between ticks and piroplasmids. These approaches have been recently applied to search for changes in protein expression in ovaries of *R. microplus* ticks infected with *B. bovis* (60) and transcription of genes in the salivary glands of female *R. appendiculatus* ticks upon invasion with *Theileria parva* (61).

In the first case, a significant increase in the amounts of a number of tick small proteins was observed in tick ovaries upon infection with B. bovis (60). Although further functional investigation of these proteins is still needed, some of them shared characteristics with invertebrate antimicrobial peptides. Together with the above mentioned longicin from H. longicornis, these results are suggestive of a common strategy among ticks that involves increased synthesis of defensins in response to piroplasmid invasion. A Kunitz-type serine protease inhibitor was also observed to be up-regulated in R. microplus ovaries upon B. bovis invasion. This result is particularly interesting given our recent finding of serine protease encoding genes in the genome of this parasite (10, Mesplet, M. et al, manuscript in preparation). Serine proteases have been implicated in the invasion of erythrocyte by B. divergens parasites, after in vitro growth experiments in the presence of specific inhibitors (62). Although no studies are available on the possible action of this type of enzymes in the invasion of tick cells, it may be hypothesized that a serine-protease inhibitor constitutes a mechanism to control the action of parasite enzymes. Lysozyme, on the other hand, was down-regulated in infected ovaries. This enzyme is known to have antibacterial and digestive functions in different organisms, and was shown to be up-regulated in the soft tick Ornithodorus moubata after a blood meal (63). It is not vet understood if and how lysozyme can interact with *B. bovis*, although it has been suggested that it prevents invasion of tick tissues by these parasites (64). The observed downregulation of lysozyme expression upon ovary infection by B. bovis might be indicative of an adaptive mechanism of these parasites to invade tick ovaries and eggs and thus achieve transmission to the next tick generation.

Although major changes in the transcription of R. *appendiculatus* abundantly transcribed genes could not be detected upon invasion of salivary glands with T. *parva*, some genes encoding glycine-rich proteins appeared to be up-regulated, but further studies are needed to ascertain their exact functional role and the significance of this observation (61).

3.5. Tick saliva-camouflage of sporozoite invasion

The capability of ticks to blood feed on vertebrates demanded sophisticated adaptations to ensure, on one hand, continuous blood flow and, on the other, evasion of the immune defense mechanisms of the host. Although these adaptations are also present in other arthropod-pathogen vector systems (e.g. sandfly/Leishmania spp, mosquito/Plasmodium spp.), ticks are long feeders that are attached to the host for 3 to 10 days which calls for the necessity of additional adaptations, such as: i) the need to stay undetected as the long attachment period renders them particularly sensitive to grooming of the vertebrate host; and ii) the need to cope with immediate innate and late specific adaptive immune defense mechanisms, as well as wound healing reactions of the host. These necessities have led to the development of a plethora of highly efficient substances that ultimately assist them in their feeding success (51). In a recent investigation of the sialome of the salivary glands of the tick Ixodes scapularis, 470 putative secreted proteins were discovered that could be grouped into more than 25 different protein families (65). The function of most of these proteins and/or protein families is yet unknown and awaits investigation. Considering that only 70 putative secreted proteins from the salivary glands of the *Plasmodium*-transmitting mosquito Anopheles gambiae have been found so far (66), it appears that the complexity of saliva is considerably higher in ticks than in mosquitoes. Furthermore, a substantial larger number of different vasodilatory and immunomodulatory activities has been reported for hard ticks than for any other arthropod vectors (67). Evidence has been presented that the main evolutionary mechanism that resulted in this large number of different proteins has been gene duplication and subsequent positive selection leading to diversification into new functions (21,68).

Specifically, anti-hemostatic proteins that are secreted by the tick exert their function by inhibiting platelet activation and aggregation, by inhibition of factors of the blood coagulation cascade, and by fibrin (ogen)olytic proteins. As ticks are pool feeders, these factors ensure blood fluidity in the hematoma from where the blood is taken up, during feeding and after its ingestion into the tick gut. In addition, potent vasodilatory substances ensure a continuous inflow into the hematoma and its interconnection with the blood circuit. The active intermittent secretion of the tick saliva containing these factors into the hematoma ensures a continuous blood flow and, likewise, an effective transmission of the pathogen into the host (69).

Another group of factors secreted by the tick have been shown to interfere with a multitude of immune effector mechanisms exerted by the host, by inhibiting inflammation, complement activation, antibody response, cytokine modulation, and proliferation of T lymphocytes. Other immune cells that are inhibited in their function comprise neutrophils, macrophages, NK cells, dendritic cells and B-cells. Inactivation of anaphylatoxins and inhibition or binding of histamine/serotonin may prevent pain and thus help to keep the blood-feeding tick undetected by the host (67,70).

The above portrayal plainly demonstrates that, at this stage of the life cycle, pathogen and blood-feeding tick have mutual interests since immunosuppressive agents, which allow the tick to feed may facilitate and ensure the establishment of pathogen infection. Accordingly, it has been shown for a number of arthropods that their saliva facilitates pathogen transmission and establishment of infection (70,71,72). Molecular mechanisms that facilitate and ensure transmission of the prokaryotic pathogen Borrelia burgdorferi by Ixodes scapularis to their vertebrate host have been reported (73,74). In parallel, it has been shown that the infectivity of *T. parva* sporozoites was enhanced between 30 to 60 % after preincubation of bovine lymphocyte target cells with tick salivary gland extract or with proinflammatory cytokine IL-2 (75). Similar mechanisms have not been identified yet for Babesia spp. or other Theileria spp. parasites. This might be due to the lack of investigations, but, in addition, the high complexity

of these eukaryotic parasites should endow them with additional possibilities to manipulate their hosts. It might thus even be conceivable that the pathogen assists the tick in the acquisition of its blood meal, either by manipulating its behavior as described for *Plasmodium* (see next chapter) or by the secretion of molecules that have synergistic functions with the ones described above for the tick vector.

3.6. Can piroplasmids manipulate their tick vectors?

The possible occurrence of parasite manipulation of its host is one of the many aspects of tick-piroplasmid interactions that remain unexplored. This intriguing phenomenon happens when a parasite enhances its own transmission by altering the behavior of its host or vector. through direct or indirect means. The former takes place when the parasite secretes or excretes a neuroactive substance that results in changes of host behavior. While in the latter, the presence of a parasite influences the host development, intermediate metabolism and/or immunity, leading secondarily to an alteration of host behavior (76). A rich variety of manipulation mechanisms have been generated by different parasites of invertebrates. The example that is closest to tick-piroplasmid relationships is provided by P. falciparum in its interaction with its mosquito vector. On one hand, Plasmodium-infected mosquitoes were shown to feed on their vertebrate hosts more frequently than uninfected mosquitoes. Sporozoites present in the salivary glands hamper efficient feeding by inhibition of the mosquito apyrase and, as a consequence, mosquitoes need to probe more times in order to obtain a given amount of blood (77). On the other hand, it was observed that human subjects infected with malaria attract mosquitoes twice more efficiently than uninfected individuals (78). The mechanism underlying this manipulation is unknown, but it is likely that the parasites change the infected individual's breath or body odor. Taken together, both phenomena show an incredible exploitation of the vector behavior by the Plasmodium parasite that leads to its increased transmission. Although unexplored so far, the existence of manipulation phenomena in ticktransmitted apicomplexan protozoa is conceivable, and its study would provide a fascinating viewpoint of the tickpiroplasmid interactions.

4. CONCLUDING REMARKS

We have analyzed the possible molecular interactions between ticks and the piroplasmids they transmit from different perspectives, although the questions by far surmount the answers. This largely underdeveloped research field is bound to expand with the increasing availability of tick and parasite genome information. In addition, the efforts applied to study *Plasmodium*-mosquito molecular interactions might have a catalytic effect on the research on Babesia and Theileria relationships with their tick vectors. Ticks and tick-borne pathogens are a permanent threat to animal and human health, and the current global warming scenario ensures the permanence and probable intensification of this challenge in the coming years. Rationally-designed vaccines and therapeutic agents that could simultaneously limit ticks and transmission of piroplasmids would be a highly desirable control option, in view of the drawbacks and limitations of the currently available management methods for ticks and tick-borne parasites. This kind of concerted approach will only be feasible after a much better understanding of the molecules and events that rule the tick-piroplasmid interface.

5. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are deeply thankful to Dr. Massaro Ueti (ARS-USDA, Pullman WA, USA) for his contributions to this work, and to Dr. Frank Katzer, (Moredun Research Institute, Peniculk, Scotland UK) and Dr. Carlos Suarez (ARS- USDA, Pullman WA, USA) for critically reviewing this manuscript. Support from ANPCyT, Argentina (PICT 2002/00054) and from the European Commission (INCO 003691, MEDLABAB) is gratefully acknowledged. MFC is a member of the National Research Council of Argentina (CONICET).

6. REFERENCES

1. I. Kakoma, H. Mehlhorn: *Babesia* of domestic ruminants. In: Kreier, J.P., Baker, J.R. Parasitic Protozoa. Academic Press, New York, 7, 141-216 (1994)

2. H. Melhorn, E. Schein, J. S. Ahmed: Theileria. In: Kreier, J. P., Baker, J. R. Parasitic Protozoa. Academic Press, New York, 217-304 (1994)

3. M.T.E.P. Allsopp, T. Cavalier-Smith, D.T. De Waal and B.A. Allsopp: Phylogeny and evolution of the piroplasms. *Parasitology* 108, 147-154 (1994)

4. 1. F. Jongejan and G. Uilenberg: The global importance of ticks. *Parasitology* 129, S3-14 (2004)

5. A.M. Kjemtrup, P.A. Conrad: Human babesiosis: an emerging tick-borne disease. *Int J Parasitol.* 30, 1323-1337 (2000)

6. A. E. Lew, A. R. Dluzewski, A. M. Johnson and J. C. Pinder: Myosins of *Babesia bovis*: molecular characterisation, erythrocyte invasion, and phylogeny. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton* 52, 202-20 (2002)

7. M.K. Shaw, L.G. Tilney and A.J. Musoke: The entry of *Theileria parva* sporozoites into bovine lymphocytes: evidence for MHC class I involvement. *J Cell Biol* 113, 87-101 (1991)

8. C. A. Lobo: *Babesia divergens* and *Plasmodium falciparum* use common receptors, glycophorins A and B, to invade the human red blood cell. *Infect Immun* 73, 649-651 (2005)

9. N. Yokoyama, M. Okamura, I. Igarashi: Erythrocyte invasion by *Babesia* parasites: current advances in the elucidation of the molecular interactions between the protozoan ligands and host receptors in the invasion stage. *Vet Parasitol* 138, 22-32 (2006)

10. M. Florin-Christensen, L. Schnittger, M. Dominguez, M. Mesplet, A. Rodriguez, L. Ferreri, G. Asenzo, S.

Wilkowsky, M. Farber, I. Echaide, C. E. Suarez: Search for *Babesia bovis* vaccine candidates. *Parassitologia* 49, 9-12 (2007)

11. K. Okubo, N. Yokoyama, N. Takabatake, M. Okamura, I. Igarashi: Amount of cholesterol in host membrane affects erythrocyte invasion and replication by *Babesia bovis*. *Parasitology* 134, 625-630 (2007)

12. N. Takabatake, M. Okamura, N. Yokoyama, K. Okubo, Y. Ikehara, I. Igarashi: Involvement of a host erythrocyte sialic acid content in *Babesia bovis* infection. *J Vet Med Sci* 69, 999-1004 (2007)

13. J. Stubbs, K. M. Simpson, T. Triglia, D. Plouffe, C. J. Tonkin, M. T. Duraisingh, A. G. Maier, E. A. Winzeler, A. F. Cowman: Molecular mechanism for switching of *P. falciparum* invasion pathways into human erythrocytes. *Science* 309, 1384-1387 (2005)

14. T. J. Hadley, F. W. Klotz, G. Pasvol, J. D. Haynes, M. H. McGinniss, Y. Okubo, L. H. Miller: Falciparum malaria parasites invade erythrocytes that lack glycophorin A and B (MkMk). Strain differences indicate receptor heterogeneity and two pathways for invasion. *J. Clin Invest* 80, 1190-1193 (1987)

15. L. Bell-Sakyi, E. Zweygarth, E. F. Blouin, E. A. Gould and F. Jongejan: Tick cell lines: tools for tick and tick-borne disease research. *Trends Parasitol* 23, 450-457 (2007)

16. A. Criado-Fornelio, A. Martinez-Marcos, A. Buling-Saraña, J.C. Barba-Carretero: Molecular studies on *Babesia*, *Theileria* and *Hepatozoon* in southern Europe. Part II. Phylogenetic analysis and evolutionary history. *Vet Parasitol* 114, 173-194 (2003)

17. M. T. Allsopp, B. A. Allsopp: Molecular sequence evidence for the reclassification of some *Babesia* species. *Ann NYAcad Sci* 1081, 509-517 (2006)

18. J.S.H. Klompen, W.C. Black, J.E. Keirans, D.E. Norris: Systematics and biogeography of hard ticks, a total evidence approach. *Cladistics* 16, 79-102 (2000)

19. W. C. Black IV, J.S. Klompen, J.E. Keirans: Phylogenetic relationships among tick subfamilies (Ixodida: Ixodidae: Argasidae) based on the 18S nuclear rDNA gene. *Mol Phylogenet Evol* 7, 129-144 (1997)

20. H. Klompen , D. Grimaldi: First Mesozoic record of a parasitiform mite: a larval argasid tick in Cretaceous amber (Acari: Ixodida: Argasidae). *Ann Entomol Soc Am* 94, 10–15 (2001)

21. S. J. Dobson, S.C. Barker: Phylogeny of the hard ticks (Ixodidae) inferred from 18S rRNA indicates that the genus Aponomma is paraphyletic. *Mol Phylogenet Evol* 11, 288-295 (1999)

22. B.J. Mans, A.I. Louw and A.W.H. Neitz: Evolution of hematophagy in ticks: common origins for blood

coagulation and platelet aggregation inhibitors from soft ticks of the genus *Ornithodoros*. Molecular Biology and Evolution 19, 1695-1705 (2002)

23. A. A. Escalante and F. J. Ayala: Evolutionary origin of *Plasmodium* and other Apicomplexa based on rRNA genes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 92, 5793-5797 (1995)

24. R. J. Barta: Phylogenetic analysis of the class Sporozoea (Phylum Apicomplexa Levine, 1970), Evidence for the independent evolution of heteroxenous life cycles. *J Parasitol* 75, 195-206 (1989)

25. L. Schnittger, H. Yin, M. Gubbels, D. Beyer, S. Niemann, F. Jongejan, J. S. Ahmed: Phylogeny of sheep and goat *Theileria* and *Babesia* parasites. *Parasitol Res* 91, 398-406 (2003)

26. M. M. Nijhout: *Plasmodium gallinaceum*: exflagellation stimulated by a mosquito factor. *Exp Parasitol* 48, 75–80 (1979)

27. G.E. Garcia, R.A. Wirtz, J.R. Barr, A. Woolfitt, R. Rosenbergi: Xanthurenic acid induces gametogenesis in *Plasmodium*, the malaria parasite, *J Biol Chem* 273, 12003-5 (1998)

28. O. Billker, V. Lindo, M. Panico, A.E. Etienne, T. Paxton, A. Dell, M. Rogers, R.E. Sinden, H.R. Morris: Identification of xanthurenic acid as the putative inducer of malaria development in the mosquito. Nature 392, 227-228 (1998)

29. J. Mosqueda, A. Falcon, A.J. Alvarez, A.J. Ramos, I.F. Oropeza-Hernandez, J.V. Figueroa: *Babesia bigemina* sexual stages are induced *in vitro* and are specifically recognized by antibodies in the midgut of infected *Boophilus microplus* ticks. *Int J Parasitol* 34, 1229-1236 (2004)

30. F. Katzer, D. Ngugi, C. Oura, R. P. Bishop, E. L. Taracha, A. R. Walker, D. J. McKeever, Extensive genotypic diversity in a recombining population of the apicomplexan parasite *Theileria parva*. *Infect Immun* 74, 5456-5464 (2006)

31. R. Bishop, A. Musoke, S. Morzaria, M. Gardner, V. Nene: *Theileria*: intracellular protozoan parasites of wild and domestic ruminats transmitted by ixodid ticks. *Parasitology* 129, S271-S283 (2004)

32. S. J. Berens, K. A. Brayton, T. F. McElwain: Coinfection with antigenically and genetically distinct virulent strains of *Babesia bovis* is maintained through all phases of the parasite life cycle. *Infect Immun* 75, 5769-5776 (2007)

33. K. C. Williamson, D. B. Keister, O. Muratova, D. C. Kaslow: Recombinant Pfs230, a *Plasmodium falciparum* gametocyte protein, induces antisera that reduce the infectivity of *Plasmodium falciparum* to mosquitoes. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 75, 33-42 (1995)

34. K. A. Brayton, A. O. Lau, D. R. Herndon, L. Hannick, L. S. Kappmeyer, S. J. Berens, S. L. Bidwell, W. C. Brown, J. Crabtree, D. Fadrosh, T. Feldblum, H. A. Forberger, B. J. Haas, J. M. Howell, H. Khouri, H. Koo, D. J. Mann, J. Norimine, I. T. Paulsen, D. Radune, Q. Ren, R. K. Smith Jr., C. E. Suarez, O. White, J. R. Wortman, D. P. Knowles, Jr., T. F. McElwain, V. M. Nene: Genome sequence of *Babesia bovis* and comparative analysis of apicomplexan hemoprotozoa. *PLoS Pathog* 3, 1401-1413 (2007)

35. M. W. Ueti, G. H. Palmer, L. S. Kappmeyer, G. A. Scoles, D. P. Knowles: Expression of equi merozoite antigen 2 during development of *Babesia equi* in the midgut and salivary gland of the vector tick *Boophilus microplus. J Clin Microbiol* 41, 5803-5809 (2003)

36. A. Musoke, S. Morzaria, C. Nkonge, E. Jones, V. Nene: A recombinant sporozoite surface antigen of *Theileria parva* induces protection in cattle. *Proc Natl Acad Sci, USA* 89 514-518 (1992)

37. A. Musoke, J. Rowlands, V. Nene, J. Nyanjui, J. Katende, P. Spooner, S. Mwaura, D. Odongo, C. Nkonge, S. Mbogo, R. Bishop, S. Morzaria: Subunit vaccine based on the p67 major surface protein of *Theileria parva* sporozoites reduces severity of infection derived from field tick challenge. *Vaccine* 23, 3084-3095 (2005)

38. J. S. Gray: The effects of the piroplasm *Babesia* bigemina on the survival and reproduction of the blue tick, *Boophilus decoloratus*. J Invert Pathology 39, 413-415 (1982)

39. G. Hoffmann: Infection susceptibility of various strains of *Boophilus* to *Babesia bigemina* as well as the influencing of ticks by host or parasite. Z *Tropenmed Parasitol* 22, 270-284 (1971)

40. D. M. Watt, A. R. Walker: Pathological effects and reduced survival in *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus* ticks infected with *Theileria parva* protozoa. *Parasitol Res* 86, 207-214 (2000)

41. A.R. Walker, A.A. Latif, S.P. Morzaria, F. Jongejan: Natural infection rate of *Hyalomma anatolicum* with *Theileria* in Sudan. *Res. Vet. Sci* 35, 87-90 (1983)

42. G. Büscher, B. Otim: Quantitative studies on *Theileria* parva in the salivary glands of *Rhipicephalus* appendiculatus adults: quantification and prediction of infection. *Int J Parasitol* 16, 93-100 (1986)

43. T. Gura: Innate immunity: Ancient system gets new respect. *Science* 291, 2068-2071 (2001)

44. N. Tsuji, B. Battsetseg, D. Boldbaatar, T. Miyoshi, X. Xuan, J.H.Jr. Oliver, K. Fujisaki: Babesial vector tick defensin against *Babesia sp.* parasites. *Infect Immun* 75, 3633-3640 (2007)

45. N. Tsuji, K. Fujisaki: Longicin plays a crucial role in inhibiting the transmission of Babesia parasites in the

vector tick Haemaphysalis longicornis. Future Microbiol 2, 575-578 (2007)

46. J. Zhou, M. Ueda, R. Umemiya, B. Battsetseg, D. Boldbaatar, X. Xuan, K. Fujisaki: A secreted cystatin from the tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis* and its distinct expression patterns in relation to innate immunity. *Insect Biochem. Mol Biol* 36, 527-535 (2006)

47. V. Turke, W. Bode: The cystatins: protein inhibitors of cysteine proteinases. *Fed Eur Biol Soc Lett* 285, 213-219 (1991)

48. S. L. Olsson, B. E.k. and I. Bjork: The affinity and kinetics of inhibition of cysteine proteinases by intact recombinant bovine cystatin C. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1432, 73-81 (1999)

49. P. Schierak, R. Lucius, B. Sonnenburg, K. Schilling, S. Hartmann: Parasite specific immunomodulatory functions of filarial cystatin. *Infect Immun* 71, 2422-2429 (2003)

50. C.A. Lima, S.D. Sasaki, A. S. Tanaka: Bmcystatin, a cysteine proteinase inhibitor characterized from the tick *Boophilus microplus. Biochem. Biophys. Res Comm* 347, 44-50 (2006)

51. J. G. Valenzuela: Exploring tick saliva: from biochemistry to 'sialomes' and functional genomics. *Parasitology* 129 Suppl, S83-94 (2004)

52. S. Karim, N. J. Miller, J. Valenzuela, J. R. Sauer, T. N. Mather: RNAi-mediated gene silencing to assess the role of synaptobrevin and cystatin in tick blood feeding. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 334, 1336-1342 (2005)

53. H. A. Baylis, A. Megson, J. C. Mottram, R. Hall: Characterization of a gene for a cysteine protease from *Theileria annulata. Mol Biochem Parasitol* 54, 105-107 (1992)

54. V. Nene, E. Gobright, A.J. Musoke. J.D. Lonsdale-Eccles: A single exon codes for the enzyme domain of a protozoan cysteine protease. *J Biol Chem* 265, 18047-18050 (1990)

55. V. Nene, K.P. Iams, E. Gobright, A.J. Musoke: Characterisation of the gene encoding a candidate vaccine antigen of *Theileria parva* sporozoites. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 51, 17-27 (1992)

56. Y. Sako, C. Sugimoto, M. Onuma: Cloning of a cysteine proteinase gene of *Theileria sergenti*. J Vet Med Sci 61, 271-273 (1999)

57. P. J. Holman, M. M. Hsieh, J. L. Nix, K. G. Bendele, G. G. Wagner, J. M. Ball: A cathepsin L-like cysteine protease is conserved among *Babesia equi* isolates. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 119, 295-300 (2002)

58. W. He, K. Ohashi, C. Sugimoto, M. Onuma: *Theileria* orientalis: Cloning a cDNA encoding a protein similar to

thiol protease with haemoglobin-binding activity. *Exptl* Parasitol 111, 143-153 (2005)

59. K. Okubo, N. Yokoyama, Y. Govind, A. Alhassan, I. Igarashi: *Babesia bovis*: Effects of cysteine protease inhibitors on *in vitro* growth. Exp Parasitol 117, 214-217 (2007)

60. A. Rachinsky, F. D. Guerrero, G. A. Scoles: Differential protein expression in ovaries of uninfected and *Babesia*-infected southern cattle ticks, *Rhipicephalus* (Boophilus) microplus. Insect Biochem. Mol Biol 37, 1291-1308 (2007)

61. V. Nene, D. Lee, S. Kangá, R. Skilton, T. Shah, E. Villiers, S. Mwaura, D. Taylor, J. Quackenbush, R. Bishop: Genes transcribed in the salivary glands of female *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus* ticks infected with *Theileria parva*. *Insect Biochem Mol Biol* 34, 1117-1128 (2004)

62. E. Montero, S. Rafiq, S. Heck, C.A. Lobo: Inhibition of human erythrocyte invasion by *Babesia divergens* using serine protease inhibitors. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 153, 80-84 (2007)

63. L. Grundova, H. Fouquier, V. Hypsia, P. Kopacek: Lysozyme from the gut of the soft tick *Ornithodorus moubata*: the sequence, phylogeny and post-feeding regulation. *Dev Comp Immunol* 27, 651-660 (2003)

64. B. Battsetseg, T. Matsuo, X. Xuan, D. Boldbaatar, S. H. Chee, R. Umemiya, T. Sakaguchi, T. Hatta, J. Zhou, A R. Verdida, D. Taylor, K. Fuijisaki: *Babesia* parasites develop and are transmitted by the non-vector soft tick *Ornithodorus moubata* (Acari: Argasidae). *Parasitology* 134, 1-8 (2007).

65. J. M. Ribeiro, F. Alarcon-Chaidez, I. M. Francischetti, B. J. Mans, T. N. Mather, J. G. Valenzuela, S. K. Wikel: An annotated catalog of salivary gland transcripts from *Ixodes scapularis* ticks. *Insect Biochem Mol Biol* 36, 111-129 (2006)

66. B. Arcà, F. Lombardo, J. G. Valenzuela, I. M. Francischetti, O. Marinotti, M. Coluzzi and J. M. Ribeiro: An updated catalogue of salivary gland transcripts in the adult female mosquito, *Anopheles gambiae*. *J Exp Biol* 208, 3971-3986 (2005)

67. R. G. Titus, J. V. Bishop, J. S. Mejia: The immunomodulatory factors of arthropod saliva and the potential for these factors to serve as vaccine targets to prevent pathogen transmission. *Parasite Immunol* 28, 131-141 (2006)

68. B. J. Mans, J. F. Andersen, I. M. Francischetti, J. G. Valenzuela, T. G. Schwan, V. M. Pham, M. K. Garfield, C. H. Hammer, J. M. Ribeiro: Comparative sialomics between hard and soft ticks: Implications for the evolution of blood-feeding behavior. *Insect Biochem Mol Biol* 38, 42-58 (2008)

69. C. Maritz-Olivier, C. Stutzer, F. Jongejan, A. W. H. Neitz, A. R. M. Gaspar: Tick anti-hemostatics: targets for future vaccines and therapeutics. *Trends Parasitol* 23, 391-458 (2007)

70. S. K. Wikel: Tick modulation of host immunity: an important factor in pathogen transmission. *Int J Parasitol* 29, 851-859 (1999)

71. R. G. Titus, J. M. C. Ribero: Salivary gland lysates from the sandfly *Lutzomyia longipalpis* enhance *Leishmania* infectivity. *Science* 239, 1306-1308 (1988)

72. R. V. Morris, C. B. Shoemaker, J. R. David, G. C. Lanzaro, R. G. Titus: Sandfly maxadilan exacerbates infection with *Leishmania major* and vaccinating against it protects against *L. major* infection. *J. Immunol* 167, 5226-5230 (2001).

73. N. Ramamoorthi, S. Narasimhan, U. Pal, F. Bao, X. F. Yang, D. Fish, J. Anguita, M. V. Norgard, F. S. Kantor, J. F. Anderson, R. A. Koski, E. Fikrig: The Lyme disease agent exploits a tick protein to infect the mammalian host. *Nature* 436, 573-7 (2005)

74. R. Garg, I. J. Juncadella, N. Ramamoorthi, L. Ashish, S. K. Ananthanarayanan, V. Thomas, M. Rincón, J. K. Krueger, E. Fikrig, C. M. Yengo, J. Anguita: Cutting edge: CD4 is the receptor for the tick saliva immunosuppressor, Salp15. *J Immunol.* 177, 6579-6583 (2006)

75. M.K. Shaw, L.G. Tilney and D.J. McKeever: Tick salivary gland extract and interleukine-2 stimulation enhance susceptibility of lymphocytes to infection by *Theileria parva* sporozoites. *Infect. Immun.* 61: 1486-1495 (1993)

76. F. Thomas, S. Adamo, J. Moore, Parasitic manipulation: where are we and where should we go? *Behavioral Processes* 68, 185-199 (2005)

77. P. A. Rossignol, J. M. C. Riberiro, A. Spielman: Increased intradermal probing time in sporozoite-infected mosquitoes. *Am J Trop Hyg* 33, 17-20 (1984)

78. R. Lacroix, W. R. Mukabana, L.C. Gouagna, J.C. Koella: Malaria infection increases attractiveness of humans to mosquitoes. *PLOS Biology* 3, 1590-1593 (2005)

Key Words: Tick, Piroplasmid, *Babesia sp., Theileria sp.,* life cycle, innate immunity, molecular interaction, co-evolution, review

Send correspondence to: Monica Florin-Christensen, Institute of Pathobiology, CICVyA, INTA-Castelar, Los Reseros y Las Cabanas, 1712 Castelar, Argentina, Tel: 541146211743, Fax: 541146211743, E-mail: mflorin@cnia.inta.gov.ar

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol14.htm